What happens between first symptoms and first acute exacerbation of COPD – observational study of routine data and patient survey

Alex Bottle,^{1*} Alex Adamson,¹ Xiubin Zhang,¹ Benedict Hayhoe¹ and Jennifer K Quint¹

¹School of Public Health, Imperial College London, London, UK

*Corresponding author robert.bottle@imperial.ac.uk

Published October 2024 DOI: 10.3310/CGTR6370

Plain language summary

What happens between first symptoms and first acute exacerbation of COPD – observational study of routine data and patient survey

Health and Social Care Delivery Research 2024; Vol. 12: No. 43 DOI: 10.3310/CGTR6370

NIHR Journals Library www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk

Plain language summary

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease is often caused by smoking and affects over 1 million people in the United Kingdom. While there are well-established treatments, less is known on where and when patients get the diagnosis, how general practitioners investigate their symptoms and to what extent the first major flare-up ('acute exacerbation') can be predicted and prevented.

Using a research database of general practitioner consultation records linked to hospital admissions and the national death register, we described patient characteristics, general practitioner actions before and following diagnosis, and, with statistical models, predictors of the first exacerbation. We looked at three time periods according to the date of diagnosis: April 2006–March 2007 (cohort 1), April 2016–March 2017 (cohort 2) and March–August 2020 (cohort 3). We sent patients a questionnaire asking about their experiences of developing symptoms, seeking medical help and getting diagnosed.

We analysed records of over 70,000 patients in total. The majority were diagnosed by their general practitioner. In cohorts 2 and 3, general practitioners did the recommended tests more than in cohort 1, though in the year before diagnosis, only 10% of patients had all four done. Our survey found that many people were unaware of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and its symptoms before their diagnosis but also that some felt they were not taken seriously by the medical team and that their diagnosis was delayed. There were improvements over time in prescribing. Most patients were offered the flu jab. Older patients, current smokers and those with other conditions such as heart failure had higher risk of an acute exacerbation. The statistical models did not perform well enough to be used to guide decision-making.

Despite some improvements over time, there remain opportunities for better recognition of the condition among patients and general practitioners alike. Future work should more fully assess the impact of COVID-19.

Health and Social Care Delivery Research

ISSN 2755-0079 (Online)

A list of Journals Library editors can be found on the NIHR Journals Library website

Health and Social Care Delivery Research (HSDR) was launched in 2013 and is indexed by Europe PMC, DOAJ, INAHTA, Ulrichsweb[™] (ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, USA), NCBI Bookshelf, Scopus and MEDLINE.

This journal is a member of and subscribes to the principles of the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) (www.publicationethics.org/).

Editorial contact: journals.library@nihr.ac.uk

This journal was previously published as *Health Services and Delivery Research* (Volumes 1–9); ISSN 2050-4349 (print), ISSN 2050-4357 (online)

The full HSDR archive is freely available to view online at www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/hsdr.

Criteria for inclusion in the Health and Social Care Delivery Research journal

Manuscripts are published in *Health and Social Care Delivery Research* (HSDR) if (1) they have resulted from work for the HSDR programme, and (2) they are of a sufficiently high scientific quality as assessed by the reviewers and editors.

HSDR programme

The HSDR programme funds research to produce evidence to impact on the quality, accessibility and organisation of health and social care services. This includes evaluations of how the NHS and social care might improve delivery of services.

For more information about the HSDR programme please visit the website at https://www.nihr.ac.uk/explore-nihr/funding-programmes/health-and-social-care-delivery-research.htm

This article

The research reported in this issue of the journal was funded by the HSDR programme or one of its preceding programmes as award number 17/99/72. The contractual start date was in June 2019. The draft manuscript began editorial review in March 2023 and was accepted for publication in December 2023. The authors have been wholly responsible for all data collection, analysis and interpretation, and for writing up their work. The HSDR editors and production house have tried to ensure the accuracy of the authors' manuscript and would like to thank the reviewers for their constructive comments on the draft document. However, they do not accept liability for damages or losses arising from material published in this article.

This article presents independent research funded by the National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR). The views and opinions expressed by authors in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the NHS, the NIHR, the HSDR programme or the Department of Health and Social Care. If there are verbatim quotations included in this publication the views and opinions expressed by the interviewees are those of the interviewees and do not necessarily reflect those of the suthors, those of the NHS, the NIHR, the HSDR programme or the Department of Health and Social Care.

This article was published based on current knowledge at the time and date of publication. NIHR is committed to being inclusive and will continually monitor best practice and guidance in relation to terminology and language to ensure that we remain relevant to our stakeholders.

Copyright © 2024 Bottle *et al.* This work was produced by Bottle *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This is an Open Access publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution CC BY 4.0 licence, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, reproduction and adaptation in any medium and for any purpose provided that it is properly attributed. See: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. For attribution the title, original author(s), the publication source – NIHR Journals Library, and the DOI of the publication must be cited.

Published by the NIHR Journals Library (www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk), produced by Newgen Digitalworks Pvt Ltd, Chennai, India (www.newgen.co).